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2019 10
95,085,116.34 97.08
95,085,116.34 97.08
2,864,995.24 2.92
97,950,111.58
100.00
7,374
30 2019 10
AUSTRALIA AND NEW
ZEALAND BANKING 200,957 | 28.58| 5,743,177.54| 26.74| 5,373,590.18( 5.49
GROUP AU LINE
AGL ENERGY LTD AUD
LINE 250,526  21.24 5,321,242.89| 19.78| 4,955404.28| 5.06
STOCKLAND NPV
925955 4.28| 3,960,154.54| 4.89| 4527,919.95( 4.62
STAPLED AUD
TELSTRA CORP AUD 1,207,070 3.84| 4,631611.13| 3.49| 4,212,674.30| 4.30
COMMONWEALTH BANK
53,114 79.93| 4,245,620.98| 78.66| 4,177,947.24( 4.27
OF AUSTRALIA AUD
NATIONAL AUSTRALIA
144,008 29.04| 4,181,305.68| 28.61( 4,120,068.88| 4.21
BANK AU LINE
WESTPAC BKG AUD 141,756 [ 30.53| 4,327,273.69| 28.21( 3,998,936.76| 4.08
WOODSIDE PETROLEUM
122,464 [ 32.33| 3,959,783.95| 32.20( 3,943,340.80| 4.03
AU LINE
JB HI FI LTD AU
LINE 94,404 27.23| 2,570,210.36| 37.04| 3,496,724.16( 3.57
SCENTRE GRP STAPLED
10 840,257 | 4.10| 3,442577.65| 3.83| 3,218,184.31( 3.29
UNIT AUD
11 [ APA GROUP AUD 251,151 9.33| 2342,852.27 11.65| 2,925909.15| 2.99
TABCORP HOLDINGS
12 594,361 4.81| 2857,581.37| 4.80| 2,852,932.81| 2.91
LTD AU LINE
SYDNEY AIRPORT AUD
13 322319 7.02| 2,261,191.89| 8.78| 2,829,960.82( 2.89
STAPLED
WESFARMERS LTD AU
¥ e 69,492 32.57| 2,263,130.84| 39.76| 2,763,001.92| 2.82
COCA COLA AMATIL
15 267,042 9.63| 2571,604.47 | 10.15| 2,710,476.30| 2.77
AU LINE
VICINITY CENTRES
S 959,870 | 2.78| 2,665,715.56| 2.67| 2562,852.90( 2.62
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100F HOLDINGS LTD

17 AUD 325,873 7.57| 2,465,240.71 7.38| 2,404942.74| 2.46
TRANSURBAN GROUP

18 AUD 161,360 | 11.89| 1,918,782.87| 14.84| 2,394582.40| 2.44
NINE ENTERTAINMENT

19 AUD 1,299,764 1.66| 2,152,939.70 1.84| 2,391,565.76| 2.44
INSURANCE AUSTRALIA

20 299,047 6.86| 2,052,698.80 7.94| 2,374,433.18| 2.42
GROUP AUD
SUNCORP GROUP LTD

21 AUD 173,531 | 13.51| 2,343,882.39| 13.45| 2,333,991.94| 2.38
WOOLWORTHS LTD AU

22 LINE 53,765| 28.67| 1,541,180.27| 37.32| 2,006,509.80| 2.05
VIVA ENERGY GROUP

23 LTD 953,158 2.33| 2,223,804.74 2.00| 1,901,550.25| 1.94
HARVEY NORMAN HLDGS

24 455,591 4.26| 1,940,076.70 4.09| 1,863,367.19| 1.90
LTD AUD

25 | ASX LTD AUD 22,086 | 59.49| 1,313,932.76| 82.32| 1,818,119.52| 1.86
AURIZON HLDGS AU

26 LINE 297,249 4.98| 1,480,847.96 5.90| 1,753,769.10| 1.79

27 | COLES GROUP LTD AUD 111,855 12.57| 1,406,323.73| 14.99| 1,676,706.45| 1.71
SPARK

28 825,659 2.32| 1917,444.45 2.02| 1,667,831.18| 1.70
INFRASTRUCTURE AUD
AUSNET SERVICES

29 724,621 1.66| 1,201,607.62 1.85| 1,340,548.85| 1.37
STAPLED UNITS AUD
MEDIBANK PRIVATE

30 LTD AUD 381,975 2.96| 1,130,160.70 3.38| 1,291,075.50| 1.32

2019 10

2019 10

30/195



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 10
103,601,504.00 7,799,121 105.48 7,941
2017
74,608,653.00 5,616,539 106.36 8,007
2018
76,836,412.00 5,784,245 107.16 8,067
2019
2018 11 67,380,821.95 5,072,428 94.58 7,120
12 66,761,553.00 5,025,810 93.24 7,019
2019 69,693,079.65 5,246,495 95.36 7,179
72,493,180.32 5,457,287 100.16 7,540
77,892,111.88 5,863,718 101.61 7,649
78,944,187.61 5,942,918 104.60 7,874
80,437,563.23 6,055,340 105.41 7,935
76,836,412.00 5,784,245 107.16 8,067
79,504,605.60 5,985,107 105.51 7,943
82,116,401.15 6,181,723 103.64 7,802
92,741,454.25 6,981,577 105.29 7,926
10 97,950,111.58 7,373,684 104.99 7,904
2016 28 2.70 203 2017 30 2017 2017
2017
2017 5.39 406 2018 29 2018 2018
2018
2018 4.93 371 2019 28 2019 2019
2019

0.01
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3.39

5.82

100x
100.00

1,215,026 232,814 982,212
(1,215,026) (232,814) (982,212)
142,056 422,813 701,455
(142,056) (422,813) (701,455)
280,185 264,595 717,045
(280,185) (264,595) (717,045)
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2019 30
2019 30
2019
73,555,406 3 74,549,675 5,612,100
1,314,434 98,951
5,172 389
1,073,944 80,847
497,477 37,450
922 69
115,999 8,732
77,557,623 5,838,538
109,227 8,223
221,650 16,686
6 390,334 29,384
721,211 54,293
76,836,412 5,784,245
NAV
76,836,412

717,045 107.16 8,067

2019 11 19
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2019 30
2019
1,012,824 3,888,238 292,707
10,806 813
3,899,044 293,520
51,199 3,854
18,207 1,371
531,032 39,976
34,542 2,600
14,566 1,097
509,208 38,333
33,693 2,536
72,829 5,483
18,207 1,371
135,078 10,169
1,418,561 106,789
2,480,483 186,731
687,326 51,742
1,616,555 121,694
2,303,881 173,436

4,784,364 360,167

51/195



EDINETOOOO

o = 2573

2019 30

2019

2,480,483
687,326
1,616,555
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186,731
51,742
121,694

4,784,364

360,167

(3,780,842)

28,402,418
(27,178,181)

(284,622)

2,138,134
(2,045,973)

1,224,237

92,161

2,227,759

74,608,653

167,706

5,616,539

76,836,412

5,784,245
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2019 30

2019
4,784,364 360,167
(21,491,152) (1,617,854)
23,469,882 1,766,813
(687,326) (51,742)
(1,616,555) (121,694)
137,784 10,372
345 26
51,830 3,902
30,626 2,306
4,679,798 352,295
27,624,857 2,079,599
(28,062,355) (2,112,534)
(3,780,842) (284,622)
(4,218,340) (317,557)
461,458 34,739
852,976 64,212
1,314,434 98,951
11,152 840

4,026,023 303,079
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106.36

3.42
2.77

6.19

(5.39)

107.16

6.13
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2019 30

2016 29

2016 29
2016 28
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ASC 946 -

55/195



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 30

2019 30

FASB
740
more likely
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ASC 820
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74,549,675 74,549,675
74,549,675 74,549,675
2018 701,455
280,185
(264,595)
2019 30 717,045
100

10 10
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2018

3,780,842 2018 2018

2019

3,535,032 2019 2019
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0.10

0.025

2019 30

11,187
1,657
143,183
39,052
1,325
137,299
7,620
19,699
1,644
27,668
390,334
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2019 30

2019 11 19
2019 2019 11 19 30,173,167
6,475,873

2019 11 19
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2019 30
Adelaide Brighton NPV 188,314 760,789 0.99
AGL Energy Ltd 196,296 3,927,883 5.11
AMP Limited 618,410 1,311,029 1.71
APA Group 196,786 2,125,289 2.77
ASX Ltd 20,831 1,715,850 2.23
Aurizon Holdings 230,936 1,247,054 1.62
Ausnet Services 627,636 1,176,818 1.53
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 157,457 4,441,862 5.78
Bendigo & Adelaide Bank Limited 83,459 966,455 1.26
Boral Limited 96,787 495,549 0.64
Charter Hall Retail 93,996 410,763 0.53
Coca-Cola Amatil 216,435 2,211,966 2.88
Coles Group Ltd 86,881 1,159,861 1.51
Commonwealth Bank of Australia 41,617 3,445,055 4.48
Dexus Property Group 25,187 326,927 0.43
Flight Centre Travel Group 6,399 265,879 0.35
G8 Education Ltd 238,299 722,046 0.94
GPT Group 168,383 1,035,555 1.35
Harvey Norman Holdings Ltd 349,900 1,424,093 1.85
Insurance Australia Group 234,314 1,935,434 2.52
100F Holdings 253,114 1,308,599 1.70
JB Hi-Fi Ltd 78,804 2,037,083 2.65
Macquarie Group Ltd 5,528 693,156 0.90
Medibank Private Ltd 296,690 1,035,448 1.35
National Australia Bank 101,679 2,716,863 3.54
Nine Entertainment 1,018,410 1,909,519 2.49
SCA Property Group 154,500 369,255 0.48
Scentre Group 658,370 2,528,141 3.29
Spark Infrastructure 679,587 1,651,396 2.15
Stockland NPV 725,518 3,025,410 3.94
Suncorp Group Ltd 111,556 1,502,659 1.95
Sydney Airport 252,549 2,030,494 2.64
Tabcorp Holdings Ltd 465,703 2,072,378 2.70
Telstra Corp 965,451 3,716,986 4.84
Transurban Group 146,343 2,157,096 2.81

65/195



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 30

Vicinity Centres 784,684 1,922,476 2.50
Viva Energy Group Ltd 746,832 1,575,816 2.05
Wesfarmers Ltd 77,632 2,807,173 3.65
Westpac Banking 111,071 3,149,974 4.10
Woodside Petroleum 95,956 3,488,960 4.54
Woolworths Ltd 50,395 1,674,626 2.18
WPP AUNZ Ltd 145,854 70,010 0.09

73,555,406 74,549,675 97.02

AUD
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Assets and Liabilities

June 30, 2019
2019

Notes AUD
Assets
Investments, fair value (Cost: AUD73,555,406) 3 74,549,675
Cash 1,314,434
Receivable for investments sold 5,172
Receivable for units issued 1,073,944
Dividends receivable 497,477
Interest receivable 922
Other assets 115,999
Total Assets 77,557,623
Liahilities
Payable for investments purchased 109,227
Payable for units repurchased 221,650
Fees payable 6 390,334
Taotal Liabilities 721,211
Net Assels 76,836,412
Met Asset Value ("NAV™) per unit - Class AUD Units
(based on Net Assets of AUD76,836,412 and 717,045 units outstanding) AUDIOT. 16

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
Signed on behalf of the Trustee

e faetriy oo i

Date: 19" November 2019
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Operations
For the year ended June 30, 2019
2019
AUD
Investment income
Dividend income (net of withholding taxes AUD1,012,824) 3.888,238
Interest 10,806
Tatal investment income 3.899.044
Expenses
Administration fees 51.199
Manager fees 18,207
Investment Manager fees 531,032
Audit fees 34,542
Trustee fees 14,566
Distributor fees 509,208
Transaction fees 33,693
Agent Company fees 72,829
Custodian fees 18,207
Other fees 135,078
Total fund expenses 1.418.561
Net invesiment income 2,480,483
Met realized and change in unrealized gain
Met realized gain on investments in securities 687,326
Met change in unrealized appreciation on investments in securities 1,616,555
Net realized and change in unrealized gain 2,303,881
Met inerease in Net Assets resulting from operations 4,784,364

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended June 30, 2019

2019
AUD
Net inerease in Net Assets resulting from operations
Net investment income 2,480,483
Met realized gain on investments in securities 687,326

Net change in unrealized appreciation on investments in securities 1,616,555

Met increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 4,784,364

Distributions to Unitholders

Class AUD Units {3,780,842)
Capital Transactions

Units 1ssued 28,402 418

Units redeemed (27,178,181}
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from capital transactions 1,224,237

Total increase in Net Assets 2,227,759

Net Assets

Beginning of year 74,608,653

End of yvear Tﬁiiﬂﬁﬁlz

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Cash Flows
For the vear ended June 30, 2019

2019
AUD
Cash flows from operating activities
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 4,784 364
Adjustments to reconecile net increase in Net Assets resulling from
operations to net cash provided by operating activities:
Purchase of investments (21,491,152)
Proceeds from sale of investments 23,469,882
Net realized gain on investments in securities (6R7,326)
Net change in unrealized appreciation on investments in securitics (1,616,555)
Change in assets and liabilities related to operations:
Decrease in dividends receivable 137.784
Decrease in interest receivable 345
Decrease in other assets 51,830
Increase in fees payable 30,626
Net cash provided by operating activities 4,679,798
Cash flows used in financing activities
Proceeds from units issued 27.624, 857
Payments for units redeemed (28,062,355}
Distributions paid to Unitholders (3,780,842}
Net cash used in financing activities (4,218,340}
Net change in cash 461,458
Cash at beginning of year 852,974
Cash at end of year 1,314,434
Supplementary information:
Interest received 11,152
Dividends received (net of withholding taxes) 4,026,023

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Financial Highlights
For the year ended June 30, 2019
Class AUD
Units
AUD
Per Unit operating performance:
NAV per unit, beginning of year 106.36
Income from investment operations (B)
MNet investment income 3.42
Net realized and change in unrealized gain 277
Total from investment aperations 6.19
Less distributions (5.39)
NAV per unit. end of vear 107.16
Total Return (A) 6.13%
Ratios/supplemental data:
Ratio of expenses to average Net Assets (A) {1.95%)
Ratio of net investment income to average Net Assets (A) 3.40%

{A) Total return is calculated based on the change in the NAV during the year and assuming
that all dividends are reinvested. Expense ratios and net investment income ratios are
calculated based on the average Net Assets outstanding throughout the yvear, The financial
highlights are reflected after all investment-related and operating expenses.

(B) Results may vary based on the timing of capital transactions. Per unit information is
calculated based upon the monthly average units outstanding during the vear.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2019

1. Description of the Trust

Australian High Dividend Equity Fund (the “Fund™) is a series trust of the Offshore Strategy
Fund, an open-ended unit trust established by a master trust deed dated July 29, 2016 (the
“Master Trust Deed”), under the laws of the Cayman Islands. Australian High Dividend Equity
Fund was constituted by a supplemental trust deed dated July 29, 2016 (the “Supplemental Trust
Deed™), under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Fund commenced operations on September
28, 2016,

International Management Services Ltd. (the “Manager™) serves as the Fund's manager. The
Fund’s assets are managed on a day to day basis by Legg Mason Asset Management (Japan)
Co., Lid. (the “Investment Manager”). The Investment Manager delegates sub-investment
management duties to Legg Mason Assel Management Australia Limited (the “Sub-Investment
Manager™). SMT Fund Services (Ireland)} Limited (the “Administrator™) serves as the Fund®s
administrator.

The investment ohjective of the Fund is to seek to obtain income gain and medium to long-term
capital appreciation by investing mainly in stocks and REITs that are Iisted on an exchange in
Australia. The Fund will put emphasis on income levels and will select securities that pay
relatively high dividends. The Fund will invest in securities that are listed on an exchanpe,
including REITs and other exchange-traded vehicles. The Fund will pay attention to liquidity
and will seek to build a liquid portfolio.

Under the terms of the Supplemental Trust Deed and the Master Trust Deed, G.A.S. (Cavman)
Limited (the “Trustee™) is named as Trustee of the Fund.

2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (*U.8. GAAP"). The preparation
of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP reguires the Fund’s management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results,
including the ultimate amount realized upon the sale of fair valued investments, could differ
from those estimates and such differences mayv be significant.

The Fund is an investment company and accordingly follows the investment company
accounting and reporting guidance of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) and
the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™) 946, Financial Services-Investment
Companies.

Security and contractual transactions are recorded on a wradefcontract-date basis. Interest
income is recorded on an effective yield basis, net of any applicable withholding tax. Interest
expense and other expenses are recorded on an accrual basis. Realized gains and losses from
security transactions are computed using the first in first out cost method. Changes in the
valuation of investments are recorded in the Statement of Operations as unrealized appreciation
or depreciation.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2019
{Continued)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies followed by the Fund in
preparing the financial statements:

Valuation of Investments
The following valuation policy is applied in determination of the value of the Fund's
investments:

Securities listed on an exchange and which are freely transferable are valued at their last sales
price on such exchange on the date of determination, or if no sales occurred on such day, at the
“bid” price at the close of business on such day. Securities traded over the counter which are
freely transferable shall be valued at the last sales price on the date of determination. or if no
sales occurred on such day, at the *bid™ price at the close of business on such day. In the event
the Fund acquires securities or other financial instruments for which market quotations are not
available, such securities will be valued at their fair value as determined by the Fund. At June
30, 2019 no fair values of investments were determined by the Fund in the absence of quoted
prices.

Expenses
Expenses are recorded on an accruals basis as incurred.

Forecign Currency Translation

Although having not done so during the year ended June 30, 2019 assets and liabilities may be
held in currencies other than Australian Dollar (*AUD” or the “Functional Currency’™) and are
translated to the Functional Currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the financial
statement date. Income and expenses are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
date on which the income or expense is incurred. Realized and unrealized gains and losses
arising on foreign currency transactions are included in the Statement of Operations in the vear
in which they occur.

The Fund does not isolate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in
foreign exchange rates on investments from the fluctuations arising from changes in market
prices of securities held. Such fluctuations are included with the net realized and unrealized
gain or loss from investments,

Cash
The Trustee has appointed Sumitomo Mitsui Trust (UK) Limited as its Custodian. Sumitomo
Mitsui Trust (UK) Limited, have in turn, appointed Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. ("BBH™)
as their sub-custodian. Cash comprise cash with original maturities of 3 months or less held at
BBEH.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2019
{Continued)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Income Taxes

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, there are no income, withholding, capital gains
or other taxes payable by the Fund. In certain jurisdictions other than the Cayman Islands,
foreign taxes may be withheld at source on dividends and interest received by the Fund. Capital
gains derived by the Fund in such jurisdictions generally will be exempt from foreign income
or withholding taxes at source. The Fund intends to conduct its affairs such that it will not be
subject to income tax in any jurisdiction. As a result, no provision for income taxes has been
made in the financial statements. Unitholders may be taxed on their proportionate share of the
Fund’s tax basis income based on their individual circumstances.

The Fund follows the authoritative guidance on accounting for and disclosure of uncerlainty in
tax positions (FASB Accounting Standards Codification 740), which requires management to
determine whether a tax position of the Fund is more likely than not to be sustained upon
examination by the applicable taxing authority, including resolution of any related appeals or
litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position.

For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the tax benefit recognized on the
financial statements is reduced by the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant taxing authority. The
Investment Manager has determined that there is no effect on the financial statements being
under this authoritative guidance,

Guarantees and/or Indemnifications

In the normal course of business the Trustee and/or Manager, on behalf of the Fund, enters into
contracts that contain a variety of representations, which provide general indemnifications. The
Fund's maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future
claims that may be made against the Fund that have not yet occurred,

ASC 480

ASC 480, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both
Liabilities and Equity™, recognizes redemptions as liabilities, when the amount and number of
units requested in the redemption notice becomes fixed. This generally may occur at the time
of the receipt of the notice, or on the last day of a fiscal period, depending on the nature of the
request. Redemptions payable may be treated as capital for purposes of allocations of
gains/{losses) pursuant to the Fund’s governing documents. As at June 30, 2019, there were
redemptions payable of AUD221,650.

Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures
ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures”, provides additional guidance for
estimating fair value in accordance with ASC 820 when the volume and level of activity for

the asset or liability have significantly decreased and provides guidance on identifving
circumstances that indicate a transaction is not orderly.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2019
(Continued)

Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (continued)

ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted listed prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest
priority o unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820 are as follows:

- Level 1 — Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Fund has the ability to access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either
directly or indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active:

= Level 3 — Inputs that are unobservable.

Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techniques and broadly refer to the
assumptions that market participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions
about risk. A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest
level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Investment Manager
considers observable data to be that market data which is readily available, regularly distributed
or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary and provided by independent sources that
are actively involved in the relevant market. The categorization of a financial instrument within
the hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not necessarily
correspond to the Investment Manager's perceived risk of that instrument.

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are classified
within Lewvel 1.

Investments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on
quoted market prices. dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable
inputs are classified within Level 2.

As Level 2 investments include positions that are not traded in active markets and/or are subject
to transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity and/or non-
transferability, which are generally based on available market information.

Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade
infrequently or not at all.

6
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2019
{Continued)

3. Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (continued)

The following table presents the investment in the Fund carried on the Statement of Assels
and Liabilities by level within the valuation hierarchy as of June 30, 2019:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets AUD AUD AUD AUD
Equities 74,549 673 = - 74,549,675
Total 74,549,675 - - 74,549,675

There were no transfers between the levels during the year.

4. Unit Capital

Class AUD

Units

Number of units outstanding at July 1, 2018 701,455
Units issued during the year 280,185
Units redeemed during the year (264.595)
Number of units outstanding at June 30, 2019 717,045

The Units are denominated in Australian Dollars. Additional classes of Units may be offered
in the future. Class AUD Units are available 1o an eligible investor who is any person,
corporation or entity which is not (i) a citizen or resident of the US, a parinership organized
or existing in the US, or any corporation, trust or other entity organized under the laws of or
existing in the US; (ii) resident or domiciled in the Cayman Islands (excluding any object of
a charitable trust or power or an exempted or non-resident Cayman Islands company); (iii)
unable to subscribe for or hold Units without violating applicable laws, or (iv) a custodian,
nominee, or trustee for any person, corporation or entity described in (i) to (1ii) above,

The Manager may determine to issue one or more classes of Units of the Fund without prior
notice to or written consent of the unitholders.

One unitholder holds all of the Units atiributable to Class AUD Units,

Class AUD Units were first issued at an initial issue price of AUD100 per Unit. The minimum
subscription amount per subscriber in respect of each class of unit is ten units, and
subscriptions for more than ten Units may only be made in one Unit increments.

For subsequent subscriptions by existing unitholders, the purchase price per unit will be the

MNAYV per Unit of the relevant class of units on the valuation day falling on the relevant
subscription day and rounded naturally to two decimal places.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2019
{Continued)

4. Unit Capital (continued)

The subscription day for the Fund shall be each business day and/or such other day or days
that the Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Fund.

Units may be submitted for repurchase at the option of unitholders (i) in the case of the
unitholder who is requesting units to be repurchased in their capacity as a distributor appointed
by the Manager, by no later than 7.00pm (Tokyo time) on the relevant repurchase day, provided
that such repurchase request relates solely to units in respect of which the unitholder (being
the relevant distributor) has received a corresponding repurchase request prior to 2.00pm
(Tokyo time) on the same day: or (ii) in the case of a unitholder requesting units to be
repurchased directly (and not as a distributor appointed by the Manager), prior to 2.00pm
{Tokyo time) on the relevant repurchase day; or, in either case, such other time as the Trustee
and the Manager. after consultation with the Administrator, may in any particular case
determine.

The Repurchase Day for the Fund shall be each business day and/or such other day or days
that the Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Fund.

At any time and for any reason, the Manager may, by giving five business days® notice to all
or any affected unitholders, repurchase units of the Fund at the applicable repurchase price.

The NAV per Unit is calculated by dividing the difference in value between the Fund's assets
and liabilities (including accrued fees and expenses of the Fund) by the number of Class AUD
Units outstanding.

The Manager may declare and arrange for the payment of distributions in respect of any class
of units of such amount (if anv) as shall be determined by the Manager, after consultation with
the Investment Manager, and approved by the Trustee, which may be paid out of the income
and capital attributable to the relevant class of units.

The ex-distribution date will be the next business day afier the Iast business day of June every
period and/or such other date or dates as the Manager may determine {the “Distribution Record
Diate™).

The first Distribution Record Date of the period was on the last business day of June 2018,
There is no guarantee that any future distributions will be paid or if paid, will be paid in such
amounts. Dividends of AUD3,780,842 (with an ex-dividend date of July 2, 2018) were paid
on July 5, 2018,

The second Distribution Record Date of the period was on the last business day of June 2019,
There is no guarantee that any future distributions will be paid or if paid, will be paid in such

amounts. Dividends of AUD3,535,032 (with an ex-dividend date of July 1, 2019) were paid
on July 4, 2019,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2019
{Continued)

5. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions.
There were no transactions with related parties other than those in the normal course of
business. The Manager, Trustee and related companies are deemed to be related to the Fund.
Fees incurred with related parties during the year are disclosed in the Statement of Operations.
Amounts payable to related parties at the year end are disclosed in the Statement of Assets and
Liabilities.

6. Fees and Expenses

Administration Fees
The Administrator receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.06% per annum of the
NAYV, accrued and calculated as of each valuation day and payable monthly in arrears.

The Administrator is also entitled to; (a) an establishment fee of USS5,000; (b) an annual fee
of US$5,000 in connection with provision of assistance in connection to the preparation of the
financial statements of the Fund; (c) an annual fee of US$1,000 in connection with filing the
audited accounts of the Fund with the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority; and (d) an annual
fee of USE500 in connection with facilitating the Manager or its delegate in the preparation of
certain reports and/or statements required for Japanese regulatory purposes.

Manager Fees
The Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and calculated on each valuation day and paid monthly in arrears,

Investment Manager Fees
The Investment Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.73% per annum of
the NAV, accrued and calculated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.

Sub-Investment Manager Fees
The Investrnent Manager pays a fee to the Sub-Investment Manager out of the fee received by
the Investment Manager.

However, all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Sub-Investment Manager in
performance of its duties in relation to the Fund will be payable out of the Fund.

Trustee Fees

The Trustee receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.02% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and caleulated as of each valuation day and payable monthly in arrears.

Distributor Fees

The Distributor receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.70% per annum of the NAY,
accrued and calculated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.
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A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2019
{Continued)

6. Fees and Expenses (continued)
Agent Company Fees
The Agent Company receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.10% per annum of the
NAW. accrued and calculated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.
Custodian Fees
The Custodian receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and calculated on each valuation day and paid monthly in arrears.

The fiees payable as at June 30, 2019 are as follows:

AUD

Administration fees 11,187
Manager fees 1,657
Investment Manager fees 143,183
Audit fees 39.052
Trustee fees 1,325
Distributor fees 137.209
Transaction fees 7.620
Agent Company fees 19,699
Custodian fees 1,644
Other fees 27.668
390,334

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks

The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including price risk,
interest rate risk and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market Risk
All invesiments present a risk of loss of capital. The Investment Manager moderates this risk
through a careful selection of securities and other financial instruments.

The Fund's investment management process is described in Note 1. The primary determinant
of the Fund’s ability to meet its objective of achieving income gain and capital appreciation
over the mid to long term is based on its investment strategy of investing in a portfolio of
equities and REITs that are listed on an exchange in Australia. The Fund’s overall market
positions are monitored on a daily basis by the Fund’s Investment Manager.

The value of the Fund's investments are affected by a number of factors, including but not
limited to, changes in the wider economy, financial and currency markets and foreign currency
exchange rates.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2019

{Continued)
7. OMf Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks (continued)

Market Risk (continued)

In a falling market environment, the value of the eguities held by the Fund may decline. and
as a result, the NAV may decline below its initial principal amount. Also, adverse
developments in an issuer's economic conditions or such negative events as bankruptcy may
cause the value of the equities to decline substantially and may significantly impact the NAV.

Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the potential loss that the Fund would incur if the counterparties failed
to perform pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Fund. For exchange-traded
coniracts, the exchange acts as the counterparty to specific transactions and, therefore, bears
the risk of delivery to and from counterparties of specific positions.

Although the Manager monitors the Custodian and believes it to be an appropriate custodian,
there is no guarantee that this or any custodian that the Fund may use from time to time, will
not become insolvent, the result of which could lead 10 losses for the Fund.

While there are codes and acts to protect customer property in the event of a failure, insolvency
or liguidation of an institution, there is no certainty that, in the event of a failure of an institution
that has custody of Fund assets, the Fund would not incur losses due to its assets being
unavailable for a period of time, ultimately less than full recovery of its assets, or both. Because
all of the Fund’s cash is in custody with a single institution, such losses could be significant
and could materially impair the ability of the Fund to achieve its investment objective. The
Fund is subject to credit risk to the extent that this institution may be unable to fulfill its
obligations to repay amounts owed.

Liguidity Risk
[nvestors should be aware that the value of units might fall as well as rise. Investment in the

Fund involves a degree of risk; there can be no assurance that the Fund’s investment ohjective
will be achieved.

The Fund is exposed to daily repurchase of its units but management believes that the Fund
has sufficient resources to meet the present and foreseeable needs of its business operations
and, if necessary, the liquidity to fund repurchases and achieve a market position appropriately
reflecting a smaller capital base. This position is monitored continually by management to
ensure that the Fund has the ability to meet its obligations.

Currency Risk

Although having not done so during the vear ended June 30, 2019, the Fund may enter into
forward foreign currency exchange contracts and hold monetary and non-monetary assets and
incur monetary and non-monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than AUD. Jt may
therefore be exposed to currency risk, as the value of the assets and liabilities denominated in
other currencies will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates. The Fund may also enter into
currency hedging transactions from time to time in order to limit its exposure (o currency risk.

2zl
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2019
(Continued)

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks (confinued)
Currency Risk {continued)
If investing in the securities of companies that are denominated in non-AUD currencies, the
Fund may be exposed to risks that the exchange rate of AUD relative to other currencies may
change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the reported value of those securities.

8. Commitments and Contingencies
As at June 30, 2019 the Fund had no commitments or contingencies.

9. Subsequent Events

Management performed a subsequent events review up to November 19, 2019, which is the
date the financial statements were available 10 be 1ssved.

Effective July 1, 2019 through to November 19, 2019 there were subscriptions of
AUD30,173,167 into the Fund and redemptions of AUD6.475,873 from the Fund.

Management concluded that there were no other subsequent events which required additional
disclosure in these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved on November 19, 2019,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Schedule of Investments

June 30, 2019
Fair

Nominal Value %o of
Equities Holding AUD NAV

Australia
AUD Adelaide Brighton NPV 188,314 760,789 0.99
AGL Energy Ltd 196,296 3,927,883 5.11
AMP Limited 618,410 1,311,029 1.71
APA Group 196,786 2,125,289 2.77
ASK Ltd 20,831 1,715,850 2.23
Aurizon Holdings 230,936 1,247,054 1.62
Ausnet Services 627,636 1,176,818 1.53
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 157,457 4,441,862 578
Bendigo & Adelaide Bank Limited 83,439 966,435 1.26
Boral Limited 06,787 495 549 0.64
Charter Hall Retail 93,005 410,763 0.53
Coca-Cola Amatil 216,435 2,211,966 2.88
Coles Group Ltd 86,881 1,159,861 1.51
Commonwealth Bank of Australia 41,617 3,445,055 4,48
Dexus Property Group 25,187 326,927 0.43
Flight Centre Travel Group 6,399 265,879 0.35
GY Education Lid 238,200 722,046 0.94
GPT Group 168,383 1,035,555 1.35
Harvey Norman Holdings Lid 349,900 1,424,053 1.85
Insurance Australia Group 234314 1,935,434 252
IOOF Holdings 253,114 1,308,590 1.70
JB Hi-Fi Ltd 78,804 2,037,083 2.65
Macquarie Group Ltd 5,528 693,156 0.90
Medibank Private Ltd 296,690 1,035,448 1.35
Mational Australia Bank 101,679 2,716,863 3.54
Nine Entertainment 1,018,410 1,909,519 2.49
SCA Property Group 154,500 369,255 0.48
Scentre Group 658,370 2,528,141 3.29
Spark Infrastructure 679,587 1,651,396 215
Stockland NPV 725,518 3,025.410 3.94
Suncorp Group Ltd 111,556 1,502,659 1.95
Sydney Airport 252,549 2,030,494 .64
Tabeorp Holdings Lid 465,703 2072378 2.70
Telstra Corp 963,451 3,716,986 4.84
Transurban Group 146,343 2,157,095 2.81

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Schedule of Investments
June 30, 2019
(Continued)
Fair
Nominal Value %o of
Equities (continued) Holding AUD NAV
Australia (continued)
Vicinity Centres 784,684 1,922,476 2,50
Viva Energy Group Lud 746,832 1,575,816 2.05
Wesfarmers Lid 77.632 2.R07,173 3.63
Westpae Banking 111,071 3,149.974 4.10
Woodside Petroleum 95,956 3,488 960 4.54
Woolworths Lid 50,395 1,674,626 218
WPP AUNZ Lid 145,854 70,010 0.09
Total Australia (Cost: AUD73,555,406) 74,549,675 97.02
Symbuol Currency Country
AUD Australian Dollar Australia

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2018 30
2018 30
2018
74,742,756 3 74,120,469 5,579,789
852,976 64,212
296,383 22,312
635,261 47,822
1,267 95
167,829 12,634
76,074,185 5,726,865
1,105,824 83,246
6 359,708 27,079
1,465,532 110,325
74,608,653 5,616,539
NAV
74,608,653

701,455 106.36 8,007

2018 12 17
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2018 30
2018
1,154,549 4,470,484 336,538
9,619 724
4,480,103 337,262
58,150 4,378
21,677 1,632
632,976 47,650
45,779 3,446
17,342 1,306
606,964 45,692
43,022 3,239
86,709 6,527
21,677 1,632
129,406 9,742
1,663,702 125,243
2,816,401 212,019
3,164,299 238,208
(2,668,740) (200,903)
495,559 37,306

3,311,960 249,324
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2018 30
2018
2,816,401 212,019
3,164,299 238,208
(2,668,740) (200,903)
3,311,960 249,324
(2,652,249) (199, 661)
14,682,641 1,105,309

(44,335,203)  (3,337,554)

(29,652,562)  (2,232,245)

(28,992,851) (2,182,582)

103,601,504 7,799,121

74,608,653 5,616,539
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2018 30

2018
3,311,960 249,324
(9,813,855) (738,787)
36,440,402 2,743,233
(3,164,299) (238,208)
2,668,740 200,903
82,764 6,230
(121) )
51,800 3,900
(79,449) (5,981)
29,497,942 2,220,605
14,985,775 1,128,129
(43,616,732) (3,283,468)
(2,652,249) (199,661)
(31,283, 206) (2,355,000)
(1,785,264) (134,395)
2,638,240 198,607
852,976 64,212
9,499 715

4,553,247 342,768
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105.48

3.38
0.20

3.58

(2.70)

106.36

3.40

(1.95 )

3.30
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2018 30

2016 29

2016 29
2016 28

GAAP
GAAP

FASB
ASC 946 -
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GAAP
FASB
2017 Topic 805
2017 12 15
FASB
2016 Topic 230
2017
12 15
FASB
2016 11 Topic 230
2017 12 15
FASB
2016 Topic 326
GAAP

2019 12 15
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FASB 2016
FV-NI
Fv-0CI
FV-NI
2017 12 15
2018
2018 30

Subtopic 825-10

0Cl1
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FASB
740
more likely
than not
50
ASC 480
ASC 480

2018 30 1,105,824
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ASC 820

ASC 820

ASC 820

ASC 820

93/195



2017

2018

30

EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2018 30
74,120,469 74,120,469
74,120,469 74,120,469

982,212

142,056

(422,813)

701,455

100
10 10
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2017

2,652,249 2017 2017

2018

3,780,842 2018 2018

0.06
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5,000
1,000

500

0.025

0.73

0.02

0.70

0.10

0.025

2018 30

5,000
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10,286
1,539
135,559
36,158
1,231
129,989
11,070
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18,570
1,526
13,780
359,708
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2018 30
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2018 30

2018 12 17
2018 2018 12 17 11,605,327
9,719,198

2018 12 17
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Assets and Liabilities
June 30, 2018

2018

Notes AUD
Assets
Investments, fair value (Cost: AU D74,742,756) 3 74,120,469
Cash 852976
Receivable for units issued 206,383
Dividends receivable 635,261
Interest receivable 1,267
Other assets 167,829
Total Assets 76,074,185
Linabilities
Payable for units repurchased 1,105,824
Fees payable [ 359,708
Total Liabilities 1,465,532
Net Assets 1'41'EI]H=553
Net Asset Value ("NAV™) per unit - Class AUD Units
(based on Net Assets of AUD74,608,653 and 701,455 units outstanding) AUDI0636E

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Signed on behalfof the Trustes

_/"%"f ﬁ@f? Li;L”_é'ﬂ:ur&

D D@:‘:EHL&E*” I:nl} Lol¥

100/195



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Operations
For the year ended June 30, 2018

2018

AUD
Investment income
Dividend income (net of withholding taxes AUDI, 154,549 4 470 434
Interest 9,619
Total investment income 4,480,103
Expenses
Administration fees 58,130
Manager fees 21,677
Investment Manager fees 632,976
Anudit fees 45,779
Trustee fees 17,342
Distributor fees 606,564
Transaction fees 43,022
Agent Company fees 86,709
Custodian fees 21,677
Other fees 129,406
Total fund expenses 1,663,702
MNet investment income 2,816,401
Net realized and change in unrealized gain
Met realized gain on investments in securities 3,164,299
Met change in unrealized depreciation on investments in securities (2,668,740)
Net realized and change in unrealized gain 495,559
MNet increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 3,311,960

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended June 30, 2018

2018
AUD
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations
Net investment income 281640
Net realized gain on investments in securities 3,164,299
Net change in unrealized depreciation on investments in securities _ (2,668,740)
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 3,311,960
Distributions to Unitholders
Class AUD Units (2,652,249)
Capital Transactions
Units issued 14,682,641
Units redeemed (44,335,203)
Met decrease in Net Assets resulting from capital transactions (29,652,562)
Total decrease in Net Assets (28,992 851)
MNet Assels
Beginning of vear 103,601,504
End of year 74,608,653

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Cash flows from operating activities
Met increase in Net Assets resulting from operations

Adjustments to reconcile net increase in Net Assets resulting from
operations to net cash provided by operating activities:

Purchase of investments

Proceeds from sale of investments

MNet realized gain on investments in securities

Net change in unrealized depreciation on investments in securities

Change in assets and liabilities related to operations:
Decrease in dividends receivable

Increase in interest receivable

Decrease in other assets

Decrease in fees payable

MNet cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows provided by financing activities
Proceeds from units issued

Payments on units redeemed

Distributions paid to Unitholders

Met cash used in financing activities

Met change in cash
Cash at beginning of year

Cash at end of year

Supplementary information:
Interest received
Dividends received {net of withholding taxes)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2018
AUD

3,311,960

(9,813,855)

36,440,402

(3,164,299)
2,668,740

82,764

(121)
51,800

(79.449)

29,497,942
14,985,775

(43,616,732)
(2,652,249)

_(31,283,206)

{1,783,264)
2

638,240

852,976

9,499
4,553,247
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Financial Highlights
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Per Unit operating performance:
NAYV per unit, beginning of year

[ncome from investment operations (B)
Net investment income
Met realized and change in unrealized pain
Total from investment operations
Less distributions
NAV per unit, end of year

Total Return {A)

Ratios/supplemental data;
Ratio of expenses to average Net Assets (A)

Ratio of net investment income to average Net Assets (A)

Class AUD
Units
AUD

105.48
338
0.20
3.58
2.70

106.36

3.40%

(1.95%)
3.30%

(A) Total retumn is calculated based on the change in the NAV during the period. Expense
ratios and net investment income ratios are calculated based on the average Net Assels
outstanding throughout the period. The financial highlights are reflected after all investment-

related and operating expenses.

(B) Results may vary based on the timing of capital transactions. Per unit information is
calculated based upon the monthly average units cutstanding during the period.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2018

1. Deseription of the Trust

Australian High Dividend Equity Fund (the “Fund™) is a series trust of the Offshore Strategy
Fund, an open-ended unit trust established by a master trust deed dated July 29, 2016 (the
“Master Trust Deed™), under the laws of the Cayman Islands. Australian High Dividend
Equity Fund was constituted by a supplemental trust deed dated July 29, 2016 (the
“Supplemental Trust Deed™), under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Fund commenced
operations on September 28, 2016.

International Management Services Lid. (the “Manager™} serves as the Fund’s manager. The
Fund’s assets are managed on a day to day basis by Legg Mason Asset Management (Japan)
Co., Lid. (the “Investment Manager”). The Investment Manager delegates sub-investment
management duties to Legg Mason Asset Management Australia Limited (the “Sub-
Investment Manager™). SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited {the “Administrator’) serves as
the Fund’s administrator.

The investment objective of the Fund is to seek to obtain income gain and medium to long-
term capital appreciation by investing mainly in stocks and REITs that are listed on an
exchange in Australia. The Fund will put emphasis on income levels and will select secunities
that pay relatively high dividends. The Fund will invest in securities that are listed on an
exchange, including REITs and other exchange-traded vehicles. The Fund will pay attention
to liquidity and will seek to build a liquid portfolio.

Under the terms of the Supplemental Trust Deed and the Master Trust Deed, G.AS,
{Cayman) Limited (the “Trustee™) is named as Trustee of the Fund,

2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.5. GAAP"). The
preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires the Fund's
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results, including the ultimate amount realized upon the sale of fair valued
investments, could differ from those estimates and such differences may be significant.

The Fund is an investment company and accordingly follows the investment company
accounting and reporting guidance of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™)
and the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC") 946, Financial Services-Investment
Companies,

Security and contractual transactions are recorded on a trade/contract-date basis. Interest
income is recorded on an effective yield basis, net of any applicable withholding tax. Interest
expense and other expenses are recorded on an acerual bagis. Realized gains and losses from
security transactions are computed using the first in first out cost method. Changes in the
valuation of investments are recorded in the Statement of Operations as unrealized
appreciation or depreciation.

13
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2018
(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
The following is a summary of the recent U.S. GAAP accounting pronouncements:

The FASB issued a further update to Business Combinations (Topic 803) standard in January
2017 to clarify the definition of a business to assist entities with evaluating whether
transactions represent an acquisition of assets or businesses. As a result, the new guidance
will reduce the number of acquisitions that will be classified as a business acquisition. The
standard becomes effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, The Fund is
assessing the puidance to determine its impact on the Fund's financial statements,

The FASR issued an update to Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) standard in August 2016
to elarify the presentation and classification of certain cash receipts and cash payments in the
Statement of Cash Flows. Most notably related to debt prepayment or extinguishment costs,
payments to settle contingent liabilities as a result of a business acquisition, and distributions
received from equity method investments. The standard becomes effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2017, and early adoption is permitted. The Fund 15 assessing
the guidance to determine its impact on the Fund’s financial statements.

The FASB issued a further update to Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230} standard in
Movember 2016 to reduce diversity in the classification and presentation of changes in
restricted cash on the Statement of Cash Flows. The new guidance clarifies the presentation
of restricted cash in the Statement of Cash Flows by requiring the amounts described as
restricted cash be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning of
period and end of period total amounts. Entities will also be required to reconcile such total to
amounts on the Fund’s Statement of Assets and Liabilities. The Fund is assessing the
guidance to determine its effectiveness for interim and annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2017.

The FASB issued an update to Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326) standard in
June 2016 related to the recognition of credit losses that requires financial assets measured at
amortized costs to be presented as the net amount expected to be collected. Under current
GAAP, the recognition of a credit loss is delayed until it is probable a loss has been incurred.
The amended standard requires entities to use forecasted information to estimate expected
credit losses, which will be more decision useful to users of the Anancial statements. The
standard requires entities to implement as a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained eamings,
and becomes effective for fiscal years beginning after December 135, 2019, The Fund s
assessing the guidance to determine its impact on the Fund’s financial statements.

14
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2018
{Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The FASB issued an update to Financial Instruments—Overall (Subtopic 825-10) standard in
Janmary 2016 related to recognition and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities. It requires most equity securities to be measured at fair value in net income (FV-
NI). Equity securities previously classified as available for sale with changes in fair value
recognized in other comprehensive income (FV-OCI) would be measured at fair value
recognized in net income (FV-NT). For equity securities where the “cost+™ practical expedient
has been elected, the other-than-temporary impairment models are being eliminated; entities
would apply a single-step impairment test. Under the new standard, fair value changes
resulting from own credit for financial Habilities measured under the fair value option will be
recognized through other comprehensive income (QCI) instead of net income. The standard
requires enfities to implement as a cumulative-effect adjustment to the Statement of Assets
and Liabilities, and becomes effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017 for
public business entities and after December 15, 2018 for all the other with early adoption
permitted after December 15, 2017, The Fund is assessing the guidance to determine its
impact on the Fund's financial statements.

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies followed by the Fund in
preparing the financial statements:

Valuation of Investments
The following valuation policy is applied in determination of the value of the Fund's
investments:

Securities listed on an exchange and which are freely transferable are valued at their last sales
price on such exchange on the date of determination, or if no sales occurred on such day, at
the “bid" price at the close of business on such day. Securities traded over the counter which
are freely transferable shall be valued at the last sales price on the date of determination, or if
no sales occurred on such day, at the “bid" price at the close of business on such day. In the
event the Fund acquires securities or other financial instruments for which market quotations
are not available, such securities will be valued at their fair value as determined by the Fund.
At June 30, 2018 no fair values of investments were determined by the Fund in the absence of
quoted prices.

Expenses
Expenses are recorded on an accruals basis as incurred,

Foreign Currency Translation

Although having not done so during the year ended June 30, 2018 assets and liabilities may
be held in currencies other than Australian Dollar (“AUD" or the “Functional Currency™) and
are translated to the Functional Currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the financial
statement date. Income and expenses are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
date on which the income or expense is incurred. Realized and unrealized gains and losses
arising on foreign currency transactions are included in the Statement of Operations in the
year in which they occur.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2018
(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Foreign Currency Translation {continued)

The Fund does not isolate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in
foreign exchange rates on investments from the fluctuations arising from changes in market
prices of securities held. Such fluctuations are included with the net realized and unrealized
gain or loss from investmenits.

Cash

The Trustee has appointed Sumitomo Mitsui Trust (UE) Limited as its Custodian. Sumitomo
Mitsui Trust (UK) Limited, have in tumn, appointed Brown Brothers Harriman & Co.
(“BBH"} as their sub-custodian. Cash comprise cash with original matunities of 3 months or
less held at BBH,

Income Taxes

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, there are no income, withholding, capital gains
or other taxes payable by the Fund. In certain jurisdictions other than the Cayman Islands,
foreign taxes may be withheld at source on dividends and interest received by the Fund.
Capital gains derived by the Fund in such jurisdictions generally will be exempt from foreign
income or withholding taxes at source. The Fund intends to conduct its affairs such that it will
not be subject to income tax in any jurisdiction. As a result, no provision for income taxes has
been made in the financial statements. Unitholders may be taxed on their proportionate share
of the Fund's tax basis income based on their individual circumstances.

The Fund follows the authoritative guidance on accounting for and disclosure of uncertainty
in tax positions (FASE Accounting Standards Codification 740), which requires management
to determine whether a tax position of the Fund is more likely than not to be sustained upon
examination by the applicable taxing authority, including resolution of any related appeals or
litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position,

For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the tax benefit recognized on the
financial statements is reduced by the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant taxing authority. The
Investment Manager has determined that there is no effect on the financial statements being
under this authoritative guidance.

Guarantees and/or Indemnifications

In the normal course of business the Trustee and/or Manager, on behalf of the Fund, enters
into contracts that contain a variety of representations, which provide general
indemnifications. The Fund’s maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown, as
this would involve future claims that may be made against the Fund that have not yet
occurred.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2018
(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

ASC 480

ASC 480, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both
Liabilities and Equity”, recognizes redemptions as liabilities, when the amount and number of
units requested in the redemption notice becomes fixed. This generally may oceur at the time
of the receipt of the notice, or on the last day of a fiscal period, depending on the natre of the
request. Redemptions payable may be treated as capital for purposes of allocations of
gains/(losses) pursuant to the Fund's governing documents. As at June 30, 2018, there were
redemptions payable of AUD1,105,524,

3. Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures™, provides additional guidance for
estimating fair value in accordance with ASC 820 when the volume and level of activity for
the asset or liability have significantly decreased and provides guidance on identifying
circumstances that indicate a transaction is not orderly.

ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted listed prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).

The three levels of the fair value hicrarchy under ASC 820 are as follows:

- Level 1 — Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities that the Fund has the ability to access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either
directly or indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active;

- Level 3 — Inputs that are unobservable,

Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techmiques and broadly refer to the
assumptions that market participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions
about risk. A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the
lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Investment
Manager considers observable data to be that market data which is readily available, regularly
distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary and provided by independent
sources that are actively involved m the relevant market. The categorization of a financial
instrument within the hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and
does not necessarily correspond to the Investment Manager's perceived risk of that
instrument.

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are classified
within Level 1.

Investments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on
quoted market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable
inputs are classified within Level 2,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2018
{Continued)

3. Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (continued)
As Level 2 investments include positions that are not fraded in active markets and/or are
subject to transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect illiquidity and/or non-

transferability, which are gencrally based on available market information.

Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade
infrequently or not at all,

The following table presents the investment in the Fund carried on the Statement of Assets
and Liabilities by level within the valuation hierarchy as of June 30, 2018:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tatal
Assets AUD AUD AUD AUD
Equities 74,120,469 - - 74,120,469
Total 74,120,469 - - 74,120,469

There were no transfers between the levels during the year,

4. Unit Capital

Class AUD Units
MNumber of units outstanding at July 1, 2017 982,212
Units issued during the year 142,056
Units redeemed during the year (422,813)
Number of units outstanding at June 30, 2018 701,455

The Units are denominated in Australian Dollars. Additional classes of Units may be offered
in the future. Class AUD Units are available to an eligible investor who is any person,
corporation or entity which is not (i) a citizen or resident of the US, a partnership orgamized
or existing in the US, or any corporation, trust or other entity organized under the laws of or
existing in the US; (ii) resident or domiciled in the Cayman Islands (excluding any object of
a charitable trust or power or an exempted or non-resident Cayman Islands company); (i1}
unable to subscribe for or hold Units without violating applicable laws, or (iv) a custodian,
nominee, or trustee for any person, corporation or entity described in (i) to (iii) above.

The Manager may determine to issue one or more classes of Units of the Fund without prior
notice to or written consent of the unitholders.

One unitholder holds all of the Units atinbutable to Class AUD Units.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2018
{Continued)

4. Unit Capital (continued)

Clags AUD Units were first issued at an initial issue price of AUDIOD per Unit. The
minimum subscription amount per subscriber in respect of each class of unit is ten units, and
subseriptions for more than ten Units may only be made in one Unil increments.

For subsequent subscriptions by existing unitholders, the purchase price per unit will be the
NAW per Unit of the relevant class of units on the valuation day falling on the relevant
subscription day and rounded naturally to two decimal places.

The subscription day for the Fund shall be each Business Day and/or such other day or days
that the Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Fund.

Units may be submitted for repurchase at the option of unitholders (i) in the case of the
unitholder who is requesting units to be repurchased in their capacity as a distributor
appointed by the Manager, by no later than 7.00pm (Tokyo time) on the relevant repurchase
day, provided that such repurchase request relates solely to units in respect of which the
unitholder (being the relevant distributor) has received a corresponding repurchase request
prior to 2.00pm (Tokyo time) on the same day; or (ii) in the case of a unitholder requesting
umits to be repurchased directly (and not as a distributor appointed by the Manager), prior to
2.00pm (Tokyo time) on the relevant repurchase day; or, in either case, such other time as the
Trustee and the Manager, after consultation with the Administrator, may in any particular
case determine,

The repurchase day for the Fund shall be each Business Day and/or such other day or days
that the Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Fund.

Atany time and for any reason, the Manager may, by giving five business days’ notice to all
or any affected unitholders, repurchase units of the Fund at the applicable repurchase price.

The NAV per Unit is calculated by dividing the difference in value between the Fund's assets
and liabilities (including accrued fees and expenses of the Fund) by the number of Class
AUD Units outstanding,

The Manager may declare and arrange for the payment of distributions in respect of any class
of units of such amount (if any) as shall be determined by the Manager, after consultation
with the Investment Manager, and approved by the Trustee, which may be paid out of the
mncome and capital attributable to the relevant class of units.

The ex-distribution date will be the next business day after the last business day of June
every period andf/or such other date or dates as the Manager may determine (the “Distribution
Record Date™).

The first Distribution Record Date was on the last business day of June 2017. There is no
guarantee that any future distributions will be paid or if paid, will be paid in such amounts.
Dividends of AUD2,652,249 (with an ex-dividend date of July 3, 2017) were paid on July 6,
2017.

19

111/195



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2018
(Continued)

4. Unit Capital (continued)

The second Distribution Record Date was on the last business day of June 2018, There is no
guarantee that any future distributions will be paid or if paid, will be paid in such amounts.
Dividends of AUD3,780,842 (with an ex-dividend date of July 2, 2018) were paid on July §,
2018,

5. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational
decisions, There were no transactions with related partics other than those in the normal
course of business, The Manager, Trustee and related companies are deemed to be related to
the Fund. Fees incurred with related parties during the year are disclosed in the Statement of
Operations. Amounts payable to related parties at the year end are disclosed in the Statement
of Assets and Liabilities.

6. Fees and Expenses

Administration Fees
The Administrator receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.06% per annum of the
NAV, accrued and calculated as of each valuation day and payable monthly in arrears,

The Administrator is also entitled to; (2) an establishment fee of US$5,000; (b) an annual fee
of US$5,000 in connection with provision of assistance in connection to the preparation of
the financial statements of the Fund; (c) an annual fee of US$1,000 in connection with filing
the audited accounts of the Fund with the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority; and (d) an
annual fee of USE500 in connection with facilitating the Manager or its delegate in the
preparation of certain reports and/or statements required for Japanese regulatory purposes.

Manager Fees
The Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025%; per annum of the NAV,
accrued and calculated on each valuation day and paid monthly in arrears.

Investment Manager Fees

The Investment Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.73% per annum of
the MAYV, accrued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.
Sub-Investment Manager Fees

The Investment Manager pays a fee to the Sub-Investment Manager out of the fee received
by the Investment Manager.

However, all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Sub-Investment Manager in
performance of its duties in relation to the Fund will be payable out of the Fund.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2018
(Continued)

6. Fees and Expenses (continued)

Trustee Fees
The Trustee receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.02% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and calculated as of each valuation day and payable monthly in arrears.

Distributor Fees
The Distributor receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.70% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and calculated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears,

Agent Company Fees
The Agent Company receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.10% per annum of the
MAV, accrued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.

Custodian Fees
The Custodian receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and calculated on each valuation day and paid monthly in arrears.

The fees payable as at June 30, 2018 are as follows:

AUD

Administration fees 10,286
Manager fees 1,539
Investment Manager fees 135,559
Audit fees 36,158
Trustee fees 1,231
Distributor fees 129,989
Transaction fees 11,070
Agent Company fees 18,570
Custodian fees 1,526
Other expenses 13,780
359,708

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks

The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including price
risk, interest rate risk and currency risk}, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Marlket Risk
All investments present a risk of loss of capital. The Investment Manager moderates this risk
through a careful selection of securities and other financial instruments.

The Fund’s investment management process is described in Note 1, The primary determinant
of the Fund's ability to meet its objective of achieving income gain and capital appreciation
over the mid to long ferm is based on its investment strategy of investing in a portfolio of
equities and REITs that are listed on an exchange in Australia. The Fund’s overall market
positions are monitored on a daily basis by the Fund's Investment Manager.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2018
(Continued)

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks (continued)

Market Risk {continued)

The value of the Fund's investments are affected by a number of factors, including but not
limited to, changes in the wider economy, financial and currency markets and foreign
currency exchange rates.

In a falling market environment, the value of the equities held by the Fund may decline, and
as a result, the NAV may decline below its initial principal amount. Also, adverse
developments in an issuer's economic conditions or such negative events as bankruptcy may
cause the value of the equities to decline substantially and may significantly impact the
MNAV.

Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the potential loss that the Fund would incur if the counterparties failed
to perform pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Fund. For exchange-traded
contracts, the exchange acts as the counterparty to specific transactions and, therefore, bears
the risk of delivery to and from counterparties of specific positions.

Although the Manager monitors the Custodian and believes it to be an appropriate custodian,
there 15 no guarantee that this or any custodian that the Fund may use from time to time, will
not become insolvent, the result of which could lead to losses for the Fund.

While there are codes and acts to protect customer property in the event of a failure,
insolvency or liquidation of an institution, there is no certainty that, in the event of a failure
of an institution that has custody of Fund assets, the Fund would not incur losses due to its
assets being unavailable for a period of time, ultimately less than full recovery of its assets,
or both, Because all of the Fund's cash is in custody with a single instiution, such losses
could be significant and could materially impair the ability of the Fund to achieve its
investment objective. The Fund is subject to credit risk to the extent that this institution may
be unable to fulfill its obligations to repay amounis owed.

Liquidity Risk

Investors should be aware that the value of units might fall as well as rise. Investment in the
Fund involves a degree of risk; there can be no assurance that the Fund's investment
objective will be achieved,

The Fund is exposed to daily repurchase of its units but management believes that the Fund
has sufficient resources to meet the present and foreseeable needs of its business operations
and, if necessary, the liquidity to fund repurchases and achieve a market position
appropriately reflecting a smaller capital base. This position is monitored continually by
management to ensure that the Fund has the ability to meet its obligations.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2018
(Continued)

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks (continued)
Currency Risk
Although having not done so during the year ended June 30, 2018, the Fund may enter into
forward foreign currency exchange contracts and hold monetary and non-monetary assets
and incur monetary and non-monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than AUD,
It may therefore be exposed to currency risk, as the value of the assets and liabilities
denominated in other currencies will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates, The Fund
may also enter into currency hedging transactions from time to time in order to limit its
exposure to currency risk.
If investing in the securities of companies that are depominated in non-AUD currencies, the
Fund may be expased to risks that the exchange rate of AUD relative to other currencies may
change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the reported value of those securities.

8, Commitments and Contingencies
As at June 30, 2018 the Fund had no commitments or contingencies.

9. Subsequent Events

Management performed a subsequent events review up to December 17, 2018, which is the
date the financial statements were available to be issued.

Effective July 1, 2018 through to December 17, 2018 there were subscriptions of
AUD11,605,327 into the Fund and redemptions of AUD%,719,198 from the Fund.

Management concluded that there were no other subsequent events which required additional
disclosure in these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved on December 17, 2018,
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2019 10
98,572,484.87 7,420,536,661
622,373.29 46,852,261
97,950,111.58 7,373,684,400
932,973
104.99 7,904
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2019 10 50,000 544
41,667

2019 10

2018

2019

2019 10
342,739,160 373 1,744
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2018 12 31
2018 2017
1,418,614 154,459 1,401,140 152,556
3 5 982,827 107,010 541,245 58,931
112,528 12,252 93,213 10,149
12 157,411 17,139 200,107 21,788
2,671,380 290,860 2,235,705 243,424
8 337,104 36,704 355,195 38,674
337,104 36,704 355,195 38,674
3,008,484 327,564 2,590,900 282,097
137,255 14,944 178,468 19,432
6 735,961 80,131 742,026 80,792
533,732 58,113 390,169 42,482
951,536 103,603 630,237 68,620
2,358,484 256,792 1,940,900 211,325
9 50,000 5,444 50,000 5,444
600,000 65,328 600,000 65,328
650,000 70,772 650,000 70,772
3,008,484 327,564 2,590,900 282,097

2019 27
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2018 12 31
2018 2017

6 9,990,854 1,087,804 10,424,230 1,134,990

7 (80, 230) (8,735) (228,308) (24,858)

9,910,624 1,079,069 10,195,922 1,110,132

330,831 36,021 182,293 19,848

53,195 5,792 51,219 5,577

10 11 (6,949,592) (756,672)  (7,426,076)  (808,551)

3,345,058 364,210 3,003,358 327,006

3,345,058 364,210 3,003,358 327,006
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2018 12 31
2016 12 31 50,000 5,444 600,000 65,328 650,000 70,772
3,003,358 327,006 3,003,358 327,006
(3,003,358) (327,006)  (3,003,358)  (327,006)
2017 12 31 50,000 5,444 600,000 65,328 650,000 70,772
3,345,058 364,210 3,345,058 364,210
(3,345,058) (364,210)  (3,345,058)  (364,210)
2018 12 31 50,000 5,444 600,000 65,328 650,000 70,772
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2018 12 31
2018 2017
3,345,058 364,210 3,003,358 327,006
39,747 4,328 47,936 5,219
(441,582) (48,079) 497,807 54,201
(19,315) (2,103) 37,878 4,124
42,696 4,649 38,008 4,138
(41,213) (4,487) 75,668 8,239
(6,065) (660) (137,456) (14,966)
143,563 15,631 (559,101) (60,875)
3,062,889 333,487 3,004,098 327,086
(33,640) (3,663) (25,142) 2,737)
11,984 1,305 0 0
(21,656) (2.358) (25,142) 2,737)
(3,023,759)  (329,227)  (3,527,240)  (384,046)
(3,023,759)  (329,227)  (3,527,240)  (384,046)
17,474 1,903 (548,284) (59,697)
1,401,140 152,556 1,949,424 212,253
1,418,614 154,459 1,401,140 152,556
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2018 12 31
1974
30 2018
1985 12 12 2018
1988 13 2010
1994 27
2015 12
2004 2018
2006 12 28
IMS
KY1-1102
61
2018 12 31 28 2017 28
1ASB

IFRS

IFRS
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2018 12 31
IFRS 16 2019 IAS 17
IFRS 16
IFRS 16
IFRS 15
2018 IFRS
15 IFRS 15
IAS 18 IAS 11 IFRS 15
IFRS 15
IFRS 15
IFRS
2018 IFRS
IFRS
IAS 39 IFRS
IFRS
IAS 39 IFRS
IAS 39
2018 IAS 39
IFRS
IAS 39 IFRS 1AS 39 IFRS

1,401,140 1,401,140

541,245 541,245

200,107 200,107

2,142,492 2,142,492

178,468 178,468

742,026 742,026

390,169 390,169

630,237 630,237

1,940,900 1,940,900
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IFRS 1AS 39 ( ECL )
IFRS
IAS 39
IFRS
ECL ECL

SH 2001 20
A.S. * 1978 27
N.D. * 1978 27
N.S. * 1978 27

* 1979 10 26
IMS * 2012 27
IMS 2013 25
- 2018 2017 12 31

126/195



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

IFRS

127/195



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

128/195



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2.5
20
10
10
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2018 2018 2017 2017

0 30 317,122 (3,133) 295,475

31 60 81,707 (1,236) 21,575

61 90 12,666 (311) 24,200

91 734,282 (158,270) 371,056 (171,061)

1,145,777 (162,950) 712,306 (171,061)
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2018 2018 2010 2015
2018
40 50

2018 2017

8,264,753 8,858,002
610,148 561,854
618,767 656,244
164,183 167,500
140,080 117,296
108,938
83,985 63,334

9,990,854 10,424,230

IFRS 15
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IAS 18
2018 2017
644,523 425,248
(605,299) (644,523)
2018 2017
1,145,777 712,306
(162, 950) (171,061)

982,827 541,245
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2018 2017
171,061 5,567
80,230 228,308
(22,880) (2,610)
(65,461) (60,204)
162,950 171,061
2018

341,637 399,545 236,413 156,891 1,134,486
14,268 19,372 33,640
(10,817) (15,969) (26,786)
341,637 402,996 239,816 156,891 1,141,340
177,692 346,243 171,807 83,549 779,291
4,098 20,558 7,756 7,335 39,747
(7,948) (6,854) (14,802)
181,790 358,853 172,709 90,884 804,236

2018 12 31
159,847 44,143 67,107 66,007 337,104

2017

341,637 374,403 236,413 156,891 1,109,344
25,142 25,142
341,637 399,545 236,413 156,891 1,134,486
173,489 318,148 164,318 75,400 731,355
4,203 28,095 7,489 8,149 47,936
177,692 346,243 171,807 83,549 779,291

2017 12 31
163,945 53,302 64,606 73,342 355,195
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2018 2017
80,000 80,000 80,000
41,667 50,000 50,000
2018 2017
330,786 192,958
523,744
2018 2018
2018 12 31
343,693 2017 343,693
2018 12 31
116,247 2017 120,976
2018 12 31
2018 2017

IMS

610,148 561,854
115,981 127,287
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2018 2017

154,711 200,107

2018 12 31
4,685,511

13

14

2017

4,245,139 2017
91,120 2017 93,255
2018 12 31

2019 27
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

December 31, 2018
(stated in United Startes dollars)

MNote(s) 2018 2017
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,418,614 1,401,140
Accounts receivable 3,5 082,827 541,245
Other receivables and prepaid expenses 112,528 93,213
Due from affiliated companies i2 157,411 200,107
2,671,380 2,235,705
Non-current assets
Property and equipment 8 337,104 355,195
337,104 355,195
Total assets USS 3,008,484 2,590,900
Liabilities and shareholder’s equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 137,255 178,468
Unearned income and payable to customers 6 735,961 742,026
Staff bonuses payable 533,732 390,169
Dividends payable 951,536 630,237
2,358,484 1,940,900
Shareholder’s equity
Share capital 9 50,000 50,000
Retained earnings 600,000 600,000
650,000 650,000
Total liabilities and shareholders equity USE 3,008,484 2,590,900

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Approved on behalf of the Board on March 27, 2019

GARY BUTLER
Director

L
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended December 31, 2018
{stated in United Srates dollars)

Note(s) 2018 2017

Income
Revenue & 9,990,854 10,424,230
Less: Bad and doubtful debts 7 (80,230) (228,308)
9,010,624 10,195,922
Other income 330,831 182,293
Rental income 53,195 51,219
Administration expenses 10,11 (6,949,592 (7,426,076)
Results from operating activities 3,345,058 3,003,358
Net income for year Uss 3,345,058 3,003,358

See accompanying notes to conselidated financial statements.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholder's Equity

Year ended December 31, 2018
(stated in United States dollars)

Share Retained

capital eamings Total
Balance at December 31, 2016 50,000 600,000 650,000
Met income for year - 3,003,358 3,003,358

Dividends declarad

T

(3,003,358) (3,003,358)

Balance at December 31, 2017 50,000 600,000 650,000

Met income for year 3,345,058 3,345,058

Dividends declared (3,345,058) (3,345,058)

Balance at December 31, 2018 Uss 50,000 600,000 650,000

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2018
{srated in United States dollars)

2018 2017
Cash provided by/(applied in):
Operating activities
Met income for year 3,345,058 3,003,358
Addf(deduct):
Items not affecting the movement of cash:
Depreciation 39,747 47,936
Met changes in non-cash balances relating to operations:
Accounts receivable (441,582) 497,807
Other receivables and prepaid expenses (19,315) 37,878
Due from affiliated companies 42,696 38,008
Accounts payable and acerued expenses (41,213) 75,668
Unearned income and payable to customers {6,065) {137,456)
Staff bonuses payable 143,563 (559,101)
3,062,889 3,004,098
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (33,640) (25,142)
Loss on disposal of assets 11,984 1]
(21,656) (25,142)
Financing activities
Dividends paid (3,023,759) (3,527,240)
(3,023,759) (3,527.,240)
Increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during year 17,474 (548,284)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,401,140 1,949,424
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year USs 1,418,614 1,401,140

See accompanying notes lo consolidated financial statements.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2018
(stated in United States dollars)

1.

21.

Incorporation and background information

International Management Services Ltd. (the “Company™) was incorporated under the Companies
Law (2018 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on August 30, 1974 and provides company and
insurance management and corporate secretarial services. On December 12, 1985, the Company
was licensed under Section 4 (5) of The Companies Management Law (2018 Revision) to carry on
the business of company management in or within the Cayman Islands. On May 13, 1988, the
Company was licensed under Section 4 (2) of The Insurance Law 2010, to carry on the business of
insurance management in or within the Cayman Islands. On July 27, 1994, the Company was
licensed under Section 12 of The Mutual Funds Law (2015 Revision) to carry on the business of
mutual fund administration. On June 7, 2004 the Company was licensed under the Banks and Trust
Companies Law (2018 Revision), to carry on trust business from within the Cayman Islands. On
December 28, 2006, the Company surrendered its Companies Management Licence.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of The IMS Group Ltd., a company also incorporated
in the Cayman Islands.

The financial results of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries (the “Group™) are
consolidated at year end to form the Group.

The registered office of the Company is 3" Floor Harbour Centre, George Town, P.O. Box 61,
Grand Cayman KY1-1102, Cayman [slands.

The Group had 28 employees as at December 31, 2018 (2017: 28).

Basis of presentation
(a) Statement of compliance

These consclidated financial statements are prepared and approved by the Directors in
accordance with Intermational Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS™) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB™).

Management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future.
Furthermore, management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast a significant
doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated
financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

(b} Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for
financial assets and financial liabilities which are measured at amortised cost.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

The Group’s functional and presentation currency is the United States dollar and not the local
currency of the Cayman Islands reflecting the fact that the Group’s operations are primarily
conducted in United States dollars (USE)
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INTERMATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2018
(stated in United Siates dollars)

2. Basis of presentation (continued)
(d) Use of estimates and judgemenis

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of income and expenses during the year. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

(e} New standards not yet adopted

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards issued to date are
not yet effective for the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2018, and have neither been applied nor early adopted in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. Management is currently evaluating the impact of these
standards on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 16, Leases, will supersede the current lease guidance including [IAS 17 Leases and the
related Interpretations when it becomes effective for accounting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019. IFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease
arrangements and their treatment in the financial statements for both lessors and lessees. No
material impact is expected in respect of the adoption of IFRS 16.

3. Changes in significant accounting policies

{a) IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In the current year, the Group has applied [FRS 15 Revenue from Conitracts with Customers,
which is effective for an annual period that begins on or after January 1, 2018. IFRS 15
establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue
is recognised. It replaced IAS 18 Revenwe, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and related
interpretations. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised when a customer obtains .control of
goods or services. Management has assessed the requirements and concluded that the manner
in which revenue was previously recognised is consistent with IFRS 15 and thus no
retrospective changes or major changes in judgments are required. Amendments have been
made to address additional presentation and disclosure requirements in accordance with IFRS
15 and are disclosed in note 6.

(b) [FR.S 9, Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied IFRS 9 Financial Instruments effective for an annual
period that begins on or after January 1, 2018. IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognising
and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non-
financial items.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Wotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2018
(stated in United States dollars)

3. Changes in significant accounting policies (continued)
() IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (continued)

This standard replaces [AS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, The
classification of financial assets under [FRS 9 is generally based on the business model in
which a financial assets is managed and ils contractual cash flow characteristics. IFRS 9
eliminates the previous IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and
available for sale. IFRS 9 larpely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities.

The following table explains the original classification and measurement categories under [AS
39 and the new measurement categories under [FRS 9 for each class of the Company’s financial
assets and financial liabilities as at January 1, 2018:

Original MNew Original carrying MNew carrying
classification classification amount under amount under
under TAS 39 under JIFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and  Amortised cost 1,401,140 1,401,140
. receivables
Accounts receivable Loans and  Amortised cost 541,245 541,245
receivables
Due from affiliated . Loansand  Amortised cost 200,107 200,107
companies receivables
Financial Assets 2,142,492 2,142,492
Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable and Other financial  Other financial 178,468 178,468
accrued expenses liabilities liabilities
Unearned income and Other financial Other financial 742,026 742,026
payable to customers liabilities liabilities
Staff bonuses payable Other financial Other financial 390,169 390,169
liabilities liabilities
Dividends payable Other financial Other financial 630,237 630,237
liabilities liabilities
Financial Liabilities 1,940,900 1,940,900
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2018
{stated in United States dollars)

3. Changes in significant accounting policies (continued)
(B) IFRS 9, Financial mstruments (continued)

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss® model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss” (ECL) model.
The new impairment model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost. Under IFRS
0, credif losses are recognised earlier than under [AS 39.

The Group has determined the ECL under IFRS 9 by reviewing historical cash collections over
a period of two years, subsequent to an annual billing cycle, to calculate loss percentages within
a provision matrix. The ECL has also been impacted by current economic factors relating to
specific clients with long outstanding accounts receivable. The impairment amounts determined
for the valuation of trade receivables as noted above are disclosed in note 5.

4. Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements and there have been no changes to accounting policies,
except as disclosed in note 3. The significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are as
follows:

(a) Consolidated wholly owned subsidiaries

Date of

incorporation/

Company Business addition
SH Corporate Services Ltd Registered Office Services April 20, 2001
A.S. Nominees Ltd.* Mominee Company Janupary 27, 1978
N.D. Nominee Lid. * Mominee Company January 27, 1978
M.5. Nominee Ltd.* Mominee Company January 27, 1978
Cardinal Nominee Ltd.* Nominee Company October 26, 1979
IMS Trustees Lid.* Trustee Services April 27,2012
IMS Liquidations Ltd. Liquidation Services Januvary 25, 2013

* These wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company have been established to act only in a
nominee capacity and have not traded in their own right during the years ended December
31,2018 and 2017,

All income earned and expenses incurred by these companies are accounted for by the Company
and all inter-company transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences to the date that control ceases.

10
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2018
(stated in United States dollars)

4. Significant accounting policies (continued)
fa) Conselidated wholly owned subsidiaries (continued)

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is
transferred to the Group. The consideration is generally measured at fair value, as are the
identifiable net asset acquired.

(B) Financial assefs and liabilities
fi)  Classification

A financial asset is any asset that is cash, a contractual right to receive cash or another
financial asset, or to exchange financial instruments under conditions that are potentially
favourable or an equity instrument of another enterprise. Financial assets classified as
and measured at amortised cost comprise cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
other receivables and due from affiliated companies.

A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or
another financial asset or to exchange financial instruments with another enterprise under
conditions that are potentially unfavourable. Financial liabilities classified as other
financial liabilities and measured at amortised cost comprise accounts payable and
accrued expenses, uneamed income and payable to customers, staff bonuses payable and
dividend payable.

fii)  Recognition

The Group recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

(1ii)  Measurement

Financial instruments are measured initially at cost, For financial assets acquired, cost
is the fair value of the consideration given, while for financial liabilities, cost is the fair
value of consideration received. The amortized cost of a financial asset or liability is
the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at initial recognition,
minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount recognized and
the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.

fiv) Fair value

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on market conditions and
information about the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and
involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and therefore, cannot be
determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the
estimates.

The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities is considered to approximate fair
value due to the immediate or short-term nature of these financial instruments.

11
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2018
(stated in United Srates dollars)

4. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
v Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the Group loses control over the contractual rights
that comprise that asset. This occurs when the rights are realised, expire or are surrendered.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired.

(vi) Impairment and calculation of recoverable amount

Previously financial assets were reviewed at each statement of financial position date to
determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any such indication
existed, the recoverable amount of the asset was estimated.

IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model as opposed to an incurred credit loss model.
The expected credit loss model requires the Company to account for expected credit losses
and changes in those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition of the financial assets. In other words, it is no longer
necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

The Group's accounts receivable is related to services that are different in nature, the
majority are derived from the provision of Fiduciary services and then to a lesser extent
from the provision of registered office services. The clients that these services are
provided to consist of a majority of regulated and administrated hedge funds and insurance
captives, the remainder of clients are companies or trusts belonging to individuals or
individual companies.

fvi) JImpairment and calculation of recoverable amount (continued)

Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. If in a
subsequent period the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be linked
objectively to an event occurring after the write-down, the write-down or allowance is
reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.

{c) Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the provision of fiduciary services, registered office
services and company management services to client companies, The specific services required
involve the annual provision of a director to act in his fiduciary capacity for client companies as
well as the provision of a client company registered office for a set annual fee, In addition, as
part of the contractual terms, client companies also receive corporates services throughout the
financial year on the basis of fees specified in the contract.

12
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2018
{stated in United States dollars)

4. Significant accounting policies (continued)
{c) Revenue Recognition (continued)

Fiduciary services are provided for the annual period represented by a calendar year which
coincides with the Group’s financial year. The service is provided for the annual period unless
the client company relationship is terminating, and the director is formally required to resign
from the board, in these cases pro-rated fees are agreed upon for the reduced period.

The provision of registered office services and company management services is considered a
distinct service which occurs in the calendar year. This period aligns with the Group and the
Government financial year, the revenue is therefore recognized when the service has been
rendered, over the financial year. Refer to note 6 for further disclosures.

{d) Foreign currency

Asscts and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at rates of
exchange prevailing at the consolidated statement of financial position date. Transactions in
foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling on the date of the transaction.
Any resulting exchange gains or losses are credited or debited to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income,

(e} Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of current bank accounts held with financial institutions
with original terms to maturity of three months or less.

(D Froperty, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment loss.

Depreciation is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income after taking
into account residual values over the following expected useful lives of the assets using the
respective methods:

Office building 2.5% p.a. Reducing Balance
Computer equipment 20% p.a.  Straight Line Method
Furniture and equipment 10% p.a.  Reducing Balance
Leasehold improvements 10% p.a. Reducing Balance

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. Impairment losses are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year in which they are identified.

13
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2018
fstated in United States dollars)

4, Significant accounting policies (continued)
{g) Unearned income and payable to customers

Unearned income and payable to customers comprise funds received from clients as
prepayments for services to be performed in future years. A portion of this amount represents
the Group's contract liabilities. Refer to note 6.

{h) Expenses

Expenses are recognised in the consclidated statement of comprehensive income on the accrual
basis.

(i) Lease payments

Rental payable for property leased under operating leases is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

(i} Emplovee benefits
i)  Defined contribution pension plan

The Group participates in a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a
post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation if the plan does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current
and prior periods. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are
recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
incurred.

(it} Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and
expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount
expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service
provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(k) Assets under administration

In the normal course of business, the Group provides fiduciary services by acting as trustee of
Trusts. The assets and liabilities of the Trusts under the Group’s management are not incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements.

I} Taves

Mo income, profit or capital gains taxes are levied in the Cayman [slands. Accordingly, no
provision for such taxes is recorded in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. In the
event that such taxes are levied, the Company has received an undertaking from the Cayman
Islands Government that no such taxes will be levied until 2022,
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2018
(stated in United States dollars)

5. Financial risk management
fa) Introduction and overview

The Group has exposure to credit, liquidity and market risks through its financial instruments. This
note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of these risk and the Group’s
objective, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the Group’s management of
capital.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the
Group’s financial risk management framework.

{b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a client or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its obligations and arises primarily from the Group's accounts
receivable, cash and cash equivalents, and due from affiliated companies.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of
each client. The demographics of the Group's client base, including the defauit risk of the
industry and country in which clients operate, has less of an influence on credit risk. No client
individually represents more than 5% of the Group’s income.

The Group’s establishes a provision for bad and doubtful accounts that represents its expected
credit loss of accounts receivable.

The nature of the Group’s exposure to credit risk and its objectives, policies and processes for
managing credit risk have net changed significantly from the prior year. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of its financial assets.

Management of credit risk

The Group manages credit risk in respect of cash and cash equivalents by using reputable
financial institutions to safeguard these financial assets. Management does not expect any
financial losses as a result of these relationships.

The Group manages credit risk in respect of accounts receivables by performing initial credit
evaluations of the financial condition of its customers. Periodic reviews of outstanding customer
balances are performed by management. Management does not expect any significant
counterparties to fail to meet their obligations. Management believe that unimpaired amounts
that are past due are still collectible in full.

15

148/195



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements {continued)

December 31, 2018
(stated in United States dollars)

5. Financial risk management {continued)

The Group's aging of accounts receivables at the reporting date was:

Gross  Impairment Gross  Impairment

2018 2018 2017 2017

0 to 30 days 317,122 (3,133) 295475 -
31 to 60 days 81,707 (1,236) 21,575 -
61 to 90 days 12,666 {311) 24,200 -
More than 91 days 734,282 (158,270) 371,056 (171,061)

USE 1,145,777 (162,950) 712,306 (171,061)

Impairment of trade receivables is based on a loss provision matrix determined by the
Company as disclosed in note 3.

(¢) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
fall due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
The nature of the Group’s exposure fo liquidity risk and its objectives, policies and processes
for managing liquidity risk have not changed significantly from the prior year.

(d) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, will affect
the Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market
risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters,
while optimising the return.

fe) Currency risk

Currency risks arise as a portion of the Group’s payment of expenses are in Cayman Island
dollars. Currency risk is mitigated as the Cayman Islands dollar is fixed against the United States
dollar.

() Capital management

The Group’s regulator, the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority (the *Authority™), sets and monitors
capital requirements for the Group under the Monetary Authority Law (2018 Revision), the
Companies Management Law (2013 Revision), the Insurance Law, 2010, the Mutual Funds Law
(2015 Revision) and the Bank and Trust Companies Law (2018 Revision). The Group is required to
have a minimum net worth of CI$400,000 {L5$500,000) and has a 3 month filing deadline after year
end date. The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base to sustain future development of
the business. The Group has complied with all imposed capital requirements throughout the vear,
and there were no material changes to the Group's management of capital during the year.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2018
(stated in United States dollars)

6. Revenue

The Group derives its revenue from contracts with customers for the transfer of services during the
year in the following major service lines.

2018 2017

Directorship Services 8,264,753 5,858,002
Management Fee from related party 610,148 561,854
Registered office services 618,767 656,244
Captive insurance management 164,183 167,500
Trustee services 140,080 117,296
Anti-money Laundering Services 108,938 -
Other 83,985 63,334
USS 9,990,854 10,424,230

Annual fees are fee charged for the services noted above to client companies. This is mainly in the
form of fixed fees, with additional fees earned on a time spent basis as charged throughout the year,
Under IFRS 15, this revenue is recognised overtime as the performance obligations are satisfied
throughout the financial year, which is consistent with the contract period. There was no material
change in the amount or timing of revenue recognition previously reported under [AS 18,

The Group has no contract assets. The following table provides information about the contract
liabilities from contracts with customers, the figures below constitute the revenue portion of amounts
represented as unearned income and payable to customers:

Contract Liabilities

2018 2017
Revenue recognized from previous years’ contract liabilities 644,523 425,248
[ncreases due to payments received that relate to the following
years’' revenue (605,299) (644,523

150/195



EDINETOOOO

o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.

Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2018

(stated in United States dollars)

7. Accounts receivable

2018 2017

Gross accounts receivable 1,145,777 712,306
Provision for doubtful accounts (162,950) (171,061}

LSS OR2.827 541.245
Movements in the provision for doubtful accounts during the year are as follows:

2018 2017

Balance at beginning of year 171,061 5,567
Charge to consolidated statement of comprehensive income 80,230 228,308
Recoveries of doubtful debts (22,380) {2,610)
Doubtful debts written off (65,461) (60,204)

Us$ 162,950 171,061
Property and equipment

Office  Computer Fumiture & Leasehold
2018 building equipment equipment improvements Total
Cost:
Balance at beginning 341,637 399,545 236,413 156,891 1,134,486
of year
Additions - 14,268 19,372 - 33,640
Disposals - {(10,817) {15,969) - (26,786)
Balance at end of year 341,637 402,996 239,816 156,891 1,141,340
Accumulated depreciation:
Balance at beginning 177,692 346,243 171,807 83,549 779,291
of year

Charge for year 4,098 20,558 7,756 7,335 39,747
Disposals - {7,948) (6,854) - (14,802)
Balance at end of year 181,790 358,853 172,709 90,884 804,236
Met book value at
December 31, 2018 USE 159,847 44,143 67,107 66,007 337,104
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2018
{stated in United States dollars)

8. Property and equipment (continued)

Office  Computer Furniture & Leaschold

2017 building equipment equipment improvements Total
Cost:
Balance at beginning 341,637 374,403 236,413 156,891 1,109,344

of year
Additions - 25,142 - - 25,142
Balance at end of year 341,637 399,545 236,413 156,891 1,134,486
Accumulated depreciation:
Balance at beginning 173,489 318,148 164,518 75,400 731,355

of year
Charge for year 4,203 28,095 7,489 8,149 47,936
Balance at end of year 177,692 346,243 171,807 83,549 779,291
Net book value at
December 31, 2017 USE 163,945 53,302 64,606 73,342 355,195

9. Share capital
2018 2017

Authorised:

80,000 shares of CI%1 each 80,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid:

41,667 shares LSS 50,000 50,000
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2018
(stated in United States dollars, except for the par value of share capital)

10. Lease commitments

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases are as follows:

2018 2017
Less than one year 330,786 192,958
Between two and five years Us$ 523,744 -

On 4 June 2018, the Group renewed the lease agreement for office space with the term commencing
August 1, 2018 for a period of three years.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group incurred rent expense from the lease of its
office space and satellite parking of US5343,693 (2017: US$343,693).

11. Defined contribution pension plan

The Group participates in the Fidelity Pension Plan, a defined coniribution pension scheme. The
Group is required to match each employee’s contribution on a one to one basis up to 5% of the
employee's annual salary. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group contributed
US$116,247 (2017: US$120,976).

12. Related party transactions

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group earned the following administration and
management fees from its affiliated companies:

2018 2017
Corporate Filing Services Ltd. USS 610,148 561,854
IMS Securities Lid. 115,981 127,287
Amounts due from related affiliates are as follows:

2018 2017
Corporate Filing Services Ltd. Us3 154,711 200,107

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group paid USS 4,245,139 (2017: US$4,685,511)
in short-term employment benefits and US$91,120 (2017: US$93.255) in long-term employment
benefits to key management personnel.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2018
(stated in United States dollars)

12. Contingencies

The Group, in its fiduciary capacity, may be a party to litigation and claims in the normal course of
business. In the opinion of the Directors, which is based on the advice of the Group's legal counsel,
no contingency provisions are required at 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

13. Subsequent events

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has evaluated and disclosed all
material subsequent events up to March 27, 2019 which is the date that the consolidated financial
statements were available to be issued.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of Australian High Dividend Equity Fund

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Australian
High Dividend Equity Fund (a series trust of Offshore Strategy Fund) (the Fund) as at June 30, 2019, and the
results of its operations, changes in its net assets, its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

What we have audited
The Fund's financial statements comprise

the statement of assets and liabilities as at June 30, 2019,;

the schedule of investments as at June 30, 2019;

the statement of operations for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the financial highlights for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financia statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
Code of Ethics for Professiona Accountants(IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilitiesin
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statementsin accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for evaluating whether there are conditions and
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued, or available to be issued, and
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to this evaluation unless the liquidation basis of accounting is being used
by the Fund.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of userstaken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financia statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internul control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Other Matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its
capacity as trustee of the Fund in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter and for no other purpose.
We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Cayman Idands
19 November 2019
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KPMG

P.O. Box 493

SIX Cricket Square

Grand Cayman KY 1-1106

Cayman Islands

Telephone +1 345 949 4800

Independent Auditors' Report to the Directors and Shareholder
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of International Management Services Ltd. (the “Group™),
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018, the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, changes in shareholder's equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2018, and its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financia Reporting
Standards (“IFRS").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has

no redlistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materia if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism through the audit. We also:

I dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group'sinternal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in amanner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

KPMG

March 27, 2019

191/195



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2018
30
2018 30
2018 30

ISAs

1ESBA
1ESBA

192/195



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1SAs

1SAs

2018 12 17

193/195



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Independent Auditor’s Report

To G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of Australian High Dividend Equity Fund

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Australian
High Dividend Equity Fund (a series trust of Offshore Strategy Fund) (the Fund) as at June 30, 2018, and the
results of its operations, changes in its net assets, its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

What we have audited
The Fund's financial statements comprise

the statement of assets and liabilities as at June 30, 2018;

the schedule of investments as at June 30, 2018;

the statement of operations for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the financial highlights for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financia statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants(IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilitiesin
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statementsin accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
mi sstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for evaluating whether there are conditions and
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued, or available to be issued, and
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to this evaluation unless the liquidation basis of accounting is being used
by the Fund.

194/195



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be e.xpected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financia statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financia statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internul control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Other Matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its
capacity as trustee of the Fund in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter and for no other purpose.
We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Cayman Idands
December 17, 2018

195/195



	表紙
	本文
	第一部ファンド情報
	第１ファンドの状況
	１ファンドの性格
	（１）ファンドの目的及び基本的性格
	（２）ファンドの沿革
	（３）ファンドの仕組み
	（４）ファンドに係る法制度の概要
	（５）開示制度の概要
	（６）監督官庁の概要

	２投資方針
	（１）投資方針
	（２）投資対象
	（３）運用体制
	（４）分配方針
	（５）投資制限

	３投資リスク
	４手数料等及び税金
	（１）申込手数料
	（２）買戻し手数料
	（３）管理報酬等
	（４）その他の手数料等
	（５）課税上の取扱い

	５運用状況
	（１）投資状況
	（２）投資資産
	①投資有価証券の主要銘柄
	②投資不動産物件
	③その他投資資産の主要なもの

	（３）運用実績
	①純資産の推移
	②分配の推移
	③収益率の推移

	（４）販売及び買戻しの実績


	第２管理及び運営
	１申込（販売）手続等
	２買戻し手続等
	３資産管理等の概要
	（１）資産の評価
	（２）保管
	（３）信託期間
	（４）計算期間
	（５）その他

	４受益者の権利等
	（１）受益者の権利等
	（２）為替管理上の取扱い
	（３）本邦における代理人
	（４）裁判管轄等


	第３ファンドの経理状況
	１財務諸表
	（１）2019年６月30日終了年度
	①貸借対照表
	②損益計算書
	③投資有価証券明細表等

	（２）2018年６月30日終了年度
	①貸借対照表
	②損益計算書


	２ファンドの現況
	純資産額計算書


	第４外国投資信託受益証券事務の概要

	第二部特別情報
	第１管理会社の概況
	１管理会社の概況
	２事業の内容及び営業の概況
	３管理会社の経理状況
	（１）貸借対照表
	（２）損益計算書

	４利害関係人との取引制限
	５その他

	第２その他の関係法人の概況
	１名称、資本金の額及び事業の内容
	２関係業務の概要
	３資本関係

	第３投資信託制度の概要
	第４参考情報
	第５その他

	監査報告書

